# IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF IOWA NO. 19-1917

# JAMES DORSEY, Applicant-Appellant

VS.

## STATE OF IOWA Respondent-Appellee.

## APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY, HONORABLE ROBERT HANSON

# APPLICANT-APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Alexander Smith
Parrish Kruidenier
Gentry Brown Bergmann
& Messamer L.L.P.
2910 Grand Avenue
Des Moines, Iowa 50312
Telephone: (515) 284-5737
Facsimile: (515) 284-1704
Email: asmith@parrishlaw.com
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

Louie S. Sloven
Office of Attorney General
Criminal Appeals Division
Hoover State Office Building,
2<sup>nd</sup> Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
Telephone: (515) 281-5976

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
I. THE COURT WAS WRONG TO DISMISS ON SUMMARY JUDGMENT, AS COUNSEL HAD NOT BEEN APPOINTED ON MR. DORSEY'S PRIOR MOTION TO CORRECT ILLEGAL SENTENCE
<u>Jefferson v. Iowa Dist. Ct.</u> , 926 N.W.2d 519 (Iowa 2019) <u>Ghost Player, LLC v. Iowa Dep't of Econ. Dev.</u> , 906 N.W.2d 454 (Iowa 2018) <u>State v. Propps</u> , 897 N.W.2d 91 (Iowa 2017)
II. NOT ALLOWING INDIVIDUALIZED SENTENCING HEARINGS FOR

Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304 (2002)

PROHIBITION AGAINST CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT

18 YEAR OLDS VIOLATES THE IOWA CONSTITUTION'S

Miller v. Alabama, 132 S. Ct. 2455 (2012)

Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005)

State v. Lyle, 854 N.W.2d 378 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Sweet, No. 14-0455 (Iowa May 27, 2016)

## III. MR. DORSEY'S SENTENCE IS GROSSLY DISPROPORTIONATE

Ewing v. California, 538 U.S. 11 (2003)

Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277 (1983)

State v. Bruegger, 773 N.W.2d 862 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Lyle, 854 N.W.2d 378 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Oliver, 812 N.W.2d 636 (Iowa 2012)

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This appeal should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court. It is a case presenting substantial constitutional questions regarding the cruel and unusual punishment clause of the Iowa Constitution. The case also involves fundamental and urgent issues of broad public importance, requiring prompt or ultimate determination by the supreme court in accordance with Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(d). Finally, this appeal entails substantial questions regarding changing legal principles, in accordance with 6.1101(2)(f).

#### CASE STATEMENT

The district court erred on multiple grounds. First, the court should not have granted the state's motion for summary judgment on res judicata grounds: the court did not appoint counsel in Mr. Dorsey's prior Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence, so the issue was not fully and fairly adjudicated on the merits. Second, the district court incorrectly concluded that the Iowa Supreme Court's holding in <u>Lyle</u> did not apply

to 18-year-olds. This arbitrary holding violates the Iowa Constitution's prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. Finally, due to his age and background, Mr. Dorsey's sentence is grossly disproportionate.

## FACTUAL BACKGROUND

James Dorsey was born on August 29, 1966. (FECR26425.PSI.Page3). He grew up in a home subsiding on welfare and did not receive the normal care and support a child receives in a more stable environment. (App. 20). As a youth, he had several referrals to juvenile Court, including a burglary adjudication and placement at the YMCA Boy's Home. (FECR26425.PSI.Page5). He had issues with both alcohol and drugs as a juvenile. (App. 20-21). He needed firm structure and limits to maintain his behavior, with officers opining that his problems were a result of unresolved issues with his parents' divorce. (FECR26425.PSI.Page5). He had a lot of trouble with school. (FECR26425.PSI.Page39). He masked his fears about his with depression and had trouble verbalizing these parents concerns. (FECR26425.PSI.Page33). During a psychological evaluation from before the offense, a psychologist said Mr. Dorsey was socially immature and had little insight. (FECR26425.PSI.Page57). His general knowledge, language skills, and social judgment were inadequate for his age group. (FECR26425.PSI.Page57). His personality assessment showed he was impulsive and tended towards immediate, short-term gratification, and had few resources for planning for long-term goals.

(FECR26425.PSI.Page57). He had difficulty in recognizing the needs of others. (FECR26425.PSI.Page57). His functional ability to meet the demands of everyday living was poor, and his biggest need was to learn to accept external discipline and structure. (FECR26425.PSI.Page57). He was diagnosed with socialized conduct disorder. (FECR26425.PSI.Page55). He reported personal struggles with alcohol and drugs, even as a teenager. (FECR26425.PSI.Page55). By his teenage years, he had already experienced severe psychological stressors and his level of adaptive functioning was described as poor. (FECR26425.PSI.Page56). Mr. Dorsey was never able to graduate from high school because he was kicked out of two different schools. (App. 20).

Mr. Dorsey was eventually required to stay at the Boy's Training School in April 1982. (FECR26425.PSI.Page5). He was released from the Boy's State Training School on February 6, 1984. (FECR26425.PSI.Page5). A report from the school said that he was "ast a turning point in his life where he seems to be choosing between being a productive member of society or a delinquent one." (FECR26425.PSI.Page28). The report also said that his "goals and objectives should be met on 8-29-84, which is the day he reaches majority age, and we will ask the Court to terminate and close." (FECR26425.PSI.Page28). Mr. Dorsey was terminated from the juvenile court's jurisdiction but it is obvious he did not meet his goals.

On September 3, 1984, 5 days after Mr. Dorsey turned 18, he became intoxicated at a party during the morning hours. (App. 11). "Defendant and two others, Todd Hoffer and Bill Lane, left the party and borrowed a 20-gauge shotgun from David Bailey. The trio entered the home of Juanita Weaver, the victim, with the gun and shots were fired. They returned to the party and made comments about a woman being dead." (App. 11).

A witness in Weaver's home on the morning testified that Mr. Dorsey was searching for someone and Weaver saw Mr. Dorsey with a shotgun. (App. 11). Juanita's son Kenny Weaver, along with Mr. Dorsey, had stolen a gun from Mr. Dorsey's uncle. (App. 11). Kenny Weaver testified that Mr. Dorsey had previously threatened him to try to get the gun back. (App. 11). The State's theory was that Mr. Dorsey had been looking for Kenny Weaver but when he could not find him, took out his frustrations on Juanita Weaver. (App. 11). Mr. Dorsey's statement on the incident in the PSI was "[a]ll I gotta say is it was an accident." (FECR26425.PSI.Page4).

## **COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS**

A jury found Mr. Dorsey guilty of Murder in the First Degree and the court sentenced him to life in prison. (App. 9). His appeal was denied and procedendo issued on March 26, 1986. (App. 16). His first and second applications for postconviction relief were filed in February 1986. (App. 65; 72). These applications

were dismissed in September 1994 when Mr. Dorsey's own attorney called them meritless and motioned to dismiss, at a hearing where Mr. Dorsey was not present. (App. 65; 72). Mr. Dorsey filed another postconviction relief application in November 1994 which the court dismissed as time barred in August 1996. (App. 72). His next application for postconviction relief was filed in January of 1999 and was dismissed on the same grounds in July 2000. (App. 75). His penultimate application for postconviction relief was filed in October 2008 and dismissed in April 2010. (App. 77).

Mr. Dorsey also filed a Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence on January 24, 2014, citing the United States Supreme Court's decisions in Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 59 (2010) and Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 465 (2012) as well as the referencing the decisions of the Iowa Supreme Court and the Iowa Constitution. (App. 18-19). He asked the court to rule that his life-without-parole sentence was cruel and unusual because he was only 18 years and 5 days old when he committed his offense and that the court should review his sentence independently on a case by case basis. (App. 18-19). He asked that the court allow him to "have at his disposal the necessary means to obtain all of the relevant information in regards to" the mitigating factors in relation to his case. (App. 21). He also asked that the court appoint counsel. (App. 21). Less than a month later, the district court denied the motion without hearing and without appointing counsel for Mr. Dorsey. (App. 26).

Later that year, the Iowa Supreme Court decided <u>State v. Lyle</u>, 854 N.W.2d 378 (Iowa 2014).

Mr. Dorsey filed the instant application for postconviction relief in October 2018, alleging that his "conviction or sentence was in violation of the Constitution of the United States or the Constitution or laws of this state" and that the "court was without jurisdiction to impose sentence". (App. 29). In his attached pro se brief, he repeated his argument that it was cruel and unusual under the United States Constitution and the Iowa Constitution to sentence him to life without parole because he was 18 years and 5 days old when he committed the offense, and requesting an individualized hearing on whether he should be forever denied parole. (App. 33). He cited State v. Lyle, 854 N.W.2d 378 (Iowa 2014), State v. Seats, 865 N.W.2d 545 (Iowa 2015), and State v. Sweet, 879 N.W.2d 811 (Iowa 2016), and asked that those decisions be applied to him. (App. 33).

The State motioned for summary judgment, arguing that it had been 32 years since procedendo issued on his direct appeal, that <u>Allison v. State</u>, 914 N.W.2d 866, 891 (Iowa 2018) was not an applicable exception to the time bar, and that <u>Lyle</u> applied only to juveniles, not adult offenders. (App. 57). The State also argued that any illegal sentence claim was precluded by the doctrine of res judicata. (App. 111).

Mr. Dorsey filed a resistance, asking the court to consider his postconviction relief application as a motion to correct illegal sentence, which can be raised at any

time. (App. 84). He also argued that there was an issue of material fact, as federal district court case <u>Cruz v. United States</u>, 2018 WL 1541898 (D. Conn. March 29, 2018) supported his illegal sentence claim due to the developments in neuroscience discussed within and a change in national sentencing trends to extend <u>Miller</u> to 18 year-olds. (App. 82-83). Mr. Dorsey also asked to develop his claim in the form of expert testimony addressing to the specific neurological differences, factoring in Dorsey's young age at the time of the offense and biographical background. (App. 82-83). Mr. Dorsey argued against the court finding that the issue was foreclosed due to res judicata, because the district court did not afford Mr. Dorsey a hearing on his motion, an opportunity to present evidence and argument in support of his motion, or even an attorney to litigate his claims. (App. 109).

The court granted summary disposition, overruling the illegal sentence claim because <u>State v. Lyle</u>, 854 N.W.2d 378, 403 (Iowa 2014) does not apply to young adult offenders. (App. 116). The court also ruled that the illegal sentence claim was barred by principles of *res judicata*. (App. 116). Mr. Dorsey filed a timely notice of appeal. (App. 118).

## **ISSUES**

I. MR. DORSEY'S ILLEGAL SENTENCE CLAIM SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN DISMISSED ON RES JUDICATA PRINCIPLES BECAUSE HE WAS NEVER GIVEN AN ATTORNEY FOR HIS FIRST MOTION TO CORRECT ILLEGAL SENTENCE

## A. Error Preservation

Mr. Dorsey preserved error by arguing against the district court's finding that his legal issue was foreclosed due to res judicata, because the district court did not afford Mr. Dorsey 1) a hearing on his motion, 2) an opportunity to present evidence and argument in support of his motion, or 3) an attorney to litigate his claims. (App. 109). The district court overruled that argument by granting summary disposition, incorrectly ruling that the illegal sentence claim was barred by principles of *res judicata*. (App. 116).

#### B. Standard of Review

Iowa Code § 822.6 allows for summary disposition of a postconviction relief action when "there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." A motion for summary disposition is comparable to a motion for summary judgment under Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.981(3). Manning v. State, 654 N.W.2d 555, 559 (Iowa 2002). The goal of summary disposition is to allow a case that has been fully developed by both sides to be properly disposed of, before an actual trial. Linn v. State, 929 N.W.2d 717, 730 (Iowa 2019).

Review of a summary judgment ruling is for correction of errors at law. Kiesau v. Bantz, 686 N.W.2d 164, 171 (Iowa 2004). Summary judgment is only appropriate when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact. Iowa R. Civ. P 1.981(3). A question of fact exists "if reasonable minds can differ on how the issue should be resolved." Walderbach v. Archdiocese of Dubuque, Inc., 730 N.W.2d 198, 199 (Iowa 2007). An issue of fact is material when the dispute is over facts that might affect the outcome of the case. Varnum v. Brien, 763 N.W.2d 862, 874 (Iowa 2009). In comparison, an issue of fact is "genuine" when the evidence is such that a reasonable factfinder could return a verdict for the party resisting the motion for summary judgment. Baratta v. Polk County Health Servs., 588 N.W.2d 107, 109 (Iowa 1999).

To obtain a grant of summary judgment on some issue in an action, the moving party must affirmatively establish the existence of undisputed facts entitling that party to a particular result under controlling law. Interstate Power Co. v. Ins. Co. of N. Am., 603 N.W.2d 751, 756 (Iowa 1999). The burden is upon the moving party to demonstrate that no genuine issue of material fact exists, with the court affording all reasonable inferences to the non-moving party. Brien, 763 N.W.2d at 874; Pecenka v. Fareway Stores, Inc., 672 N.W.2d 800, 802 (Iowa 2003). The party resisting summary judgment must offer admissible evidence showing the existence of a genuine issue of material fact and that the moving party is not entitled to

judgment as a matter of law. <u>See Evans v. McComas-Lacina Constr. Co.</u>, 641 N.W.2d 841, 843 (Iowa 2002).

## C. Argument

The State must establish the following to establish *res judicata*:

(1) "the parties in the first and second action were the same"; (2) "the claim in the second suit could have been fully and fairly adjudicated in the prior case"; and (3) "there was a final judgment on the merits in the first action."

<u>Spiker v. Spiker</u>, 708 N.W.2d 347, 353 (Iowa 2006). To establish issue preclusion, or collateral estoppel, the State must establish the following

(1) the issue concluded must be identical; (2) the issue must have been raised and litigated in the prior action; (3) the issue must have been material and relevant to the disposition of the prior action; and (4) the determination made of the issue in the prior action must have been necessary and essential to the resulting judgment.

Iowa Elec. Light & Power Co. v. Lagle, 430 N.W.2d 393, 397 (Iowa 1988)

Mr. Dorsey previously filed a Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence in his criminal case on January 24, 2014, citing the United States Supreme Court's decisions in Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 59 (2010) and Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 465 (2012). (App. 18-19). Mr. Dorsey did not and could not cite State v. Lyle, 854 N.W.2d 378, 403 (Iowa 2014) in his 2014 motion, as that case had not yet been decided. (App. 18-19). He asked the court to rule that his life-without-parole sentence was cruel and unusual because he was only 18 years and 5 days old when he committed his offense, and that the court review his sentence independently on a

case by case basis. (App. 18-19). The district court denied the motion without hearing and without appointing counsel for Mr. Dorsey. (App. 26).

The court was in error when it denied Mr. Dorsey's Motion to Correct Illegal Sentence all those years ago without appointing counsel. "Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.28(1) requires the court to appoint counsel when an indigent defendant files a motion to correct illegal sentence under Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.24(1)." Jefferson v. Iowa Dist. Ct., 926 N.W.2d 519, 519 (Iowa 2019). Frivolous motions include claims that a routine sentence was cruel and unusual or that two convictions should have merged when it is abundantly clear they do not. Id. at 525. However, even in those frivolous motions, "counsel should be appointed, but may ask to withdraw employing a procedure similar to that authorized by rule 6.1005 for frivolous appeals." Id. When the Iowa Supreme Court has previously come across a claim where the defendant made a motion to correct illegal sentence, but counsel was not appointed and the court overruled the motion without hearing, they remanded the motion to the district court for appointment of counsel and consideration of the motion. Id. at 526.

By analogy, in a case involving administrative law, the Iowa Supreme Court has found that "[t]he lack of procedural rights and trial-type opportunities to present evidence and argument strongly weighs against applying res judicata in this case on behalf" of either party. Ghost Player, LLC v. Iowa Dep't of Econ. Dev., 906 N.W.2d

454, 466 (Iowa 2018). The court found that due to the "actual conduct and relationship of the parties, we do not find much resemblance to an adjudication" and did not find the prior proceeding to have a preclusive effect. <u>Id.</u>

The lack of appointment of counsel and the other circumstances of the motion to correct illegal sentence prevent res judicata from applying. A claim has not "been fully and fairly adjudicated in the prior case" if the pro se defendant asked for counsel to be appointed, had the right to have counsel appointed, and the court refused to appoint counsel. There also could not have been a final judgment on the merits, because an order denying a motion to correct illegal sentence is not a final judgment. See State v. Propps, 897 N.W.2d 91, 96 (Iowa 2017). This court must reverse the district court's ruling.

## II. NOT ALLOWING INDIVIDUALIZED SENTENCING HEARINGS FOR 18 YEAR OLDS VIOLATES THE IOWA CONSTITUTION'S PROHIBITION AGAINST CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT

## A. Error Preservation

Error preservation is not at issue, because illegal sentence claims may be brought at any time, even for the first time on appeal. See State v. Bruegger, 773 N.W.2d 862, 871 (Iowa 2009). Even when not labeled as such, the court treats applications for postconviction relief that bring illegal sentence claims as challenges to an illegal sentence that are not subject to the three-year time bar. Veal v. State, 779 N.W.2d 63, 65 (Iowa 2010). However, even if error preservation was required,

the court denied Mr. Dorsey's cruel and unusual punishment claim on the merits and preserved error then. Mr. Dorsey alleged that the "conviction or sentence was in violation of the Constitution of the United States or the Constitution or laws of this state" and that the "court was without jurisdiction to impose sentence". (App. 29). In his attached pro se brief, he repeated his argument that it was cruel and unusual under the United States Constitution and the Iowa Constitution to sentence him to life without parole because he was 18 years and 5 days old when he committed the offense, and requested an individualized hearing on whether he should be forever denied parole. (App. 33). He cited State v. Lyle, 854 N.W.2d 378 (Iowa 2014), State v. Seats, 865 N.W.2d 545 (Iowa 2015), and State v. Sweet, 879 N.W.2d 811 (Iowa 2016), and asked that those decisions be applied to him. (App. 33). The court explicitly overruled that claim when it granted the motion for summary disposition, explaining that State v. Lyle, 854 N.W.2d 378, 403 (Iowa 2014) does not apply to even young adult offenders. (App. 116).

## **B.** Standard of Review

The standard of review when a Defendant challenges his sentence as unconstitutional is de novo. <u>State v. Lyle</u>, 854 N.W.2d 378, 382 (Iowa 2014).

# C. Argument

When the Iowa Supreme Court decided State v. Lyle, it ruled that "all mandatory minimum sentences of imprisonment for youthful offenders are

unconstitutional under the cruel and unusual punishment clause in article I, section 17 of [the Iowa] constitution." <u>State v. Lyle</u>, 854 N.W.2d 378, 400 (Iowa 2014). This decision applied to all juveniles currently serving mandatory minimum sentences, entitling each to a resentencing hearing. <u>Id.</u> at 403 (Iowa 2014).

In Lyle, the Iowa Supreme Court limited its holding to juvenile offenders:

[O]ur holding today has no application to sentencing laws affecting adult offenders. Lines are drawn in our law by necessity and are incorporated into the jurisprudence we have developed to usher the Iowa Constitution through time. This case does not move any of the lines that currently exist in the sentencing of adult offenders.

<u>Id.</u>

In <u>State v. Sweet</u>, the court adopted "a categorical rule that juvenile offenders may not be sentenced to life without the possibility of parole under article I, section 17 of the Iowa Constitution." 879 N.W.2d 811, 839 (Iowa 2016). The argument that Mr. Dorsey advances, that <u>Lyle</u> should be extended to adult offenders, has been heard by the Iowa Court of Appeals before. The Iowa Court of Appeals, exercising its subsidiary appellate function, has declined to take the holding in Lyle to its logical conclusion. <u>See State v. Vance</u>, No. 15–0070, 2015 WL 4936328, at \*2 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 19, 2015) (refusing to extend <u>Lyle</u> and listing the large number of unpublished decisions where the Iowa Court of Appeals has refused to extend <u>Lyle</u>). However, upon information and belief, the Iowa Supreme Court has never ruled on this particular issue before, as it was unnecessary to reach under <u>Lyle</u>. Mr. Dorsey's

good faith argument for the modification of existing law would be the first such case and is ripe for consideration.

## i. Nature and purpose of individualized sentencing under Lyle

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