IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA  
Supreme Court No. 19–1917

---

JAMES ELVIN DORSEY,  
Applicant-Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF IOWA,  
Respondent-Appellee.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR POLK COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE ROBERT B. HANSON, JUDGE

---

**APPELLEE’S BRIEF**

---

THOMAS J. MILLER  
Attorney General of Iowa

**LOUIS S. SLOVEN**  
Assistant Attorney General  
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-5976  
[Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov](mailto:Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov)

JOHN P. SARCONI  
Polk County Attorney

JAMES T. HATHAWAY  
Assistant Polk County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT-APPELLEE

FINAL

##

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

## ARGUMENT

### I. The PCR court was correct to grant the State's motion for summary disposition.

#### Preservation of Error

Dorsey argued that *Miller* and *Lyle* should be extended to apply to him, throughout this PCR action. *See* PCR Brief (10/8/18); App. 33; Resistance (6/19/19) at 4–5; App. 83–84. He raised his argument against res judicata in his brief after the hearing. *See* Resistance Brief (9/10/19) at 24–26; App. 108–10. The PCR court's ruling rejected both arguments. *See* PCR Order (10/31/19) at 1; App. 116. Thus, error is preserved. *See Lamasters v. State*, 821 N.W.2d 856, 864 (Iowa 2012).

#### Standard of Review

A ruling on a motion for summary disposition is reviewed for errors at law. *See Moon v. State*, 911 N.W.2d 137, 142 (Iowa 2018). However, rulings on constitutional claims are reviewed de novo. *See id.* (citing *Everett v. State*, 789 N.W.2d 151, 155 (Iowa 2010)).

#### Merits

This Court can affirm the PCR court's ruling that granted the State's motion for summary disposition on this particular claim on either of two grounds: that it was precluded by the adjudication of the same claim in 2014, or that it was substantively meritless.

**A. Appointment of counsel is not a requirement for subsequent application of claim preclusion. The 2014 ruling that rejected Dorsey's claim was a final adjudication on the merits of the claim.**

Dorsey argues that the prior adjudication that rejected his identical claim in 2014 cannot be given any preclusive effect and cannot bar him from re-raising the claim in this PCR action because the court did not appoint counsel before denying his claim in 2014. *See* App's Br. at 17–19. He is right that an Iowa court that considered the same claim today would need to consult *Jefferson* to decide if it needed to appoint counsel. *See* App's Br. at 18–19 (citing *Jefferson v. Iowa Dist. Ct. for Scott County*, 926 N.W.2d 519, 525 (Iowa 2019)). Dorsey points to the paragraph where the Iowa Supreme Court gave guidance on what to do about motions that clearly lack merit:

[A] motion to correct an illegal sentence may be frivolous, for example, if it claims that a routine sentence was cruel and unusual or that two convictions should have merged when it is abundantly clear they do not. In that event, counsel should be appointed, but may ask to withdraw employing a procedure similar to that authorized by rule 6.1005 for frivolous appeals.

*Jefferson*, 926 N.W.2d at 525. Dorsey seems to argue that failure to follow a similar procedure before denying his 2014 motion means that adjudication has no preclusive effect. But if Dorsey received appointed counsel who considered the claim and then withdrew

before adjudication of the claim, that would not strengthen the case for preclusion—it would not make this *more* of an adjudication on the merits between opposing parties than it already was. And *Jefferson* does envision some adjudications *without* appointment of counsel: adjudications on claims that are not actually challenges to the legality of a sentence. *See id.* Dorsey’s approach would permit defendants to re-raise any challenges that fall outside *Jefferson*’s narrow definition, over and over—and no ruling on any such challenge would ever have a preclusive effect on the *next* challenge. That would be absurd.

Dorsey provides a list of three requirements for res judicata, along with an alternative list of four requirements for issue preclusion. *See App’s Br.* at 17 (quoting *Spiker v. Spiker*, 708 N.W.2d 347, 353 (Iowa 2006) and *Iowa Elec. Light & Power Co. v. Lagle*, 430 N.W.2d 393, 397 (Iowa 1988)). But he cannot point out which element of either test was missing—because they were all present in 2014. This was the same claim, presenting an identical issue, raised in litigation between the same parties, resulting in a ruling that considered and adjudicated the claim on its merits before denying the motion and ending that round of proceedings. *See generally Spiker*, 708 N.W.2d at 353; *Iowa Elec. Light & Power Co.*, 430 N.W.2d at 397.

Dorsey argues that “[t]he court was in error when it denied [his motion] all those years ago without appointing counsel.” *See* App’s Br. at 18. But Dorsey did not appeal, nor attempt to do anything that would resemble an appeal. To challenge that ruling (or the ruling that denied appointment of counsel), he needed to file a petition for a writ of certiorari (or seek review through some other route). But he did not, and that means that the ruling became final as to that issue—he cannot collaterally attack it now. *See, e.g., Schott v. Schott*, 744 N.W.2d 85, 88 (Iowa 2008); *In re Estate of Falck*, 672 N.W.2d 785, 792 (Iowa 2003).

The point of issue preclusion is that it “prevents relitigation of already litigated factual issues which were essential to an earlier judgment on a different cause of action binding the same parties.” *See Iowa Elec. Light & Power Co.*, 430 N.W.2d at 397. Issue preclusion, claim preclusion, and res judicata are applicable in PCR actions. *See, e.g., Twigg v. State*, No. 19–1927, 2021 WL 210959, at \*3 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 21, 2021) (“Because [specific PCR claims were] the subject of a prior adjudication, relitigation is barred, and the State was entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”); *Long v. State*, No. 19–0726, 2020 WL 2061934, at \*4 (Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 29, 2020) (“Issue preclusion prevents parties from relitigating issues that were raised and resolved

in a previous action.”); *Miller v. State*, No. 13–1240, 2015 WL 1815903, at \*3 (Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 22, 2015) (quoting *State v. Wetzel*, 192 N.W.2d 762, 764 (Iowa 1971)) (noting that PCR is “not intended as a vehicle for relitigation, on the same factual basis, of issues previously adjudicated” which would otherwise be barred by “the principle of [r]es judicata”).

Dorsey argues that *Ghost Player, LLC* is analogous because “[t]he lack of procedural rights and trial-type opportunities to present evidence and argument strongly weighs against applying res judicata.” See App’s Br. at 19 (citing *Ghost Player, LLC v. Iowa Dep’t of Econ. Dev.*, 906 N.W.2d 454, 466 (Iowa 2018)). But *Ghost Player* involved an agency action that was “imbued with informality” and was not an “adversarial proceeding.” See *Ghost Player, LLC*, 906 N.W.2d at 466. That is not analogous to this 2014 ruling, which squarely adjudicated a disputed issue between two adversarial parties and formally rejected his challenge to the constitutionality of a mandatory LWOP sentence for committing a premeditated murder. See Order (2/25/14); App. 26. There is no way to conclude that the district court “was not acting as an adjudicator” when it denied that 2014 motion. See *Ghost Player, LLC*, 906 N.W.2d at 466. The PCR court was correct to hold that this claim was barred because it had been raised and adjudicated in 2014.

**B. A mandatory life-without-parole sentence for all 18-year-olds who commit first-degree murder is not cruel and unusual punishment, and it is not unconstitutional.**

Recently, the Iowa Court of Appeals found that it did not need to determine whether *Jefferson* applied retroactively or identify what kind of remedy should be available for a failure to appoint counsel on a motion to correct an illegal sentence that raised the very same claim that Dorsey raised in his 2014 motion and in his present PCR claim, because that claim was clearly meritless under well-established law.

[W]e believe we may avoid the question of whether *Jefferson* applies retroactively. . . . Shuford’s claim in his motion to correct—that *Lyle* should be extended to those who have reached majority—has been denied time and time again. We fail to see how the appointment of counsel, either before the district court or now on remand, would change this result. Furthermore, this unsuccessful motion to correct an illegal sentence does not prevent Shuford from bringing another, different motion at a later date. *See* Iowa R. Crim P. 2.24(5)(a); [*State v. Bruegger*, 773 N.W.2d 862, 869 (Iowa 2009)].

*Shuford v. Iowa Dist. Ct. for Scott County*, No. 18–1434, 2020 WL 1879663, at \*3 (Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 15, 2020). It included a footnote that explained why that claim was flatly meritless—because “[o]ur supreme court has explicitly drawn the line at eighteen”—along with citations to ten recent opinions from the Iowa Court of Appeals that had rejected similar challenges. *See id.* at \*3 n.4. Many of those cases

included their own string cites to earlier cases that had reached the same conclusion on the merits of the claim. *See, e.g., State v. Davis*, No. 15–0015, 2015 WL 7075820, at \*1 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 12, 2015).

Dorsey argues that “the Iowa Supreme Court has never ruled on this particular issue before, as it was unnecessary to reach under *Lyle*.” *See App’s Br.* at 22. But it *was* necessary to discuss this issue in *Lyle*, in order to explain the limitation on the applicability of its holding:

[O]ur holding today has no application to sentencing laws affecting adult offenders. Lines are drawn in our law by necessity and are incorporated into the jurisprudence we have developed to usher the Iowa Constitution through time. This case does not move any of the lines that currently exist in the sentencing of adult offenders.

*Lyle*, 854 N.W.2d at 403. Iowa courts have repeatedly held that those juvenile sentencing cases do not apply to adult offenders, no matter how few days elapse between an offender’s 18th birthday and their subsequent offenses. *See, e.g., State v. Hopkins*, 860 N.W.2d 550, 554 n.1 (Iowa 2015) (“While age is a sentencing factor, we have limited our age-based diminished culpability cases to juveniles.”). Moreover, it would be incorrect to say that the Iowa Supreme Court has never had an opportunity to reconsider that limitation from *Lyle*. In each case cited in *Shuford* and in each case cited in *those* cases, the Iowa Supreme Court *could* have retained the appeal—but it did not.

*See generally* Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101. Nor has it chosen to grant an application for further review in any of those cases, or in any of the other appeals that included such a challenge. That does not support an inference that the law on this point is unclear or unsettled. Rather, it supports the opposite inference: this is a settled point of law, and the State was entitled to summary disposition as a matter of law.

It is not actually necessary that a issue of law be *settled* to grant a motion for summary disposition—there are times when a PCR court can identify a novel legal issue, analyze it, and resolve it in a way that entitles one party to prevail as a matter of law (just as novel legal issues in civil litigation are often resolved at the summary judgment stage). Even if this were the first time that this challenge had been raised in an Iowa court, the PCR court would have been correct to grant the State’s motion for summary disposition. *See, e.g., State v. Thomas*, No. 16–0008, 2017 WL 2665104, at \*2 (Iowa Ct. App. June 21, 2017) (concluding that *Lyle* does not extend to “young adults,” and holding that “Thomas’ challenge to the legality of his sentence fails as a matter of law, and the [PCR] court did not err in summarily disposing of the application” without citing any of the other decisions from the Iowa Court of Appeals that had reached the same conclusion).



Dorsey’s arguments about developmental psychology and related neuroscience research are essentially policy arguments—that the fact that brain development continues until age 25 means “[t]he distinction between [juveniles] and [Dorsey] is an arbitrary one” and that courts “should adopt the case-by-case approach” for sentencing “for defendants over the age of 18.” *See* App’s Br. at 26–30. But the question is not whether mandatory LWOP sentences for 18-year-olds who commit premeditated murder are good policy. Article I, Section 17 is not a tool for judges to constitutionalize their policy preferences as to optimal sentencing policy. Those arguments about policy should be directed to the Iowa legislature. Much like the Iowa Supreme Court, the Iowa legislature has also chosen to require Iowa courts to consider due leniency when sentencing juvenile offenders. *See, e.g.*, Iowa Code § 902.1(2)–(3); Iowa Code § 901.5(13). But it, too, has chosen not to extend that same leniency to 18-year-old offenders. *See Kimpton v. State*, No. 15–2061, 2017 WL 108303, at \*3 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 11, 2017) (“The legislature has had the opportunity to change or qualify the legal age of adulthood since *Lyle*, and it has not done so, signifying its tacit approval of *Lyle*.”). That legislative judgment must anchor the analysis of Dorsey’s constitutional challenge:

[A] reviewing court is not authorized to generally ‘blue pencil’ criminal sentences to advance judicial perceptions of fairness. . . . Legislative judgments are generally regarded as the most reliable objective indicators of community standards for purposes of determining whether a punishment is cruel and unusual.

*Bruegger*, 773 N.W.2d at 872–73; accord *King v. Burwell*, 135 S. Ct. 2480, 2496 (2015) (“In a democracy, the power to make the law rests with those chosen by the people.”). That younger-than-18 cutoff was deliberately included in juvenile sentencing reform legislation, and Iowa courts “owe substantial deference to the penalties the legislature has established for various crimes” when assessing claims that allege cruel and unusual punishment. *See State v. Oliver*, 812 N.W.2d 636, 650 (Iowa 2012); accord *State v. Cronkhite*, 613 N.W.2d 664, 669 (Iowa 2000) (“Substantial deference is afforded the legislature in setting the penalty for crimes.”).

Dorsey’s analysis does not mention the severity of the offense as a factor that impacts the constitutionality of mandatory punishment. *See App’s Br.* at 25–30; *cf. State v. Wickes*, 910 N.W.2d 554, 573 (Iowa 2018) (rejecting cruel-and-unusual-punishment challenge that “overlooks the gravity of his offense”). The severity of the offense of premeditated murder is immense, both in terms of moral culpability of the offender and in terms of the harm to the victim and to other

members of the community. Dorsey made a deliberate decision to shoot Juanita Weaver at close range with a shotgun with the intent to kill her, in retaliation for her refusal to reveal her son's location to an armed and angry intruder. *See Dorsey*, at \*1–4; App. 10–13. And he cannot claim the same kind of categorically diminished culpability that juvenile offenders may claim. Adults are presumptively capable of making life-altering decisions, in a variety of contexts.

Juveniles and young adults are not similarly situated for the purposes of sentencing within this constitutional scheme. The supreme court has explicitly stated “[juveniles] are constitutionally different from adults for purposes of sentencing.” *Lyle*, 854 N.W.2d at 395 (quoting *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 471 (2012)); *see [State v. Sweet*, 879 N.W.2d 811, 831 (Iowa 2016)] (“The qualities that distinguish juveniles from adults do not disappear when an individual turns eighteen, but society has generally drawn the line at eighteen for the purposes of distinguishing juveniles from adults.”). The constitutional distinction is based on the long-accepted legal distinction between juveniles and adults. For example, persons eighteen years and older are also afforded more rights than juveniles, including: the right to serve as a fiduciary; marry absent parental and judicial consent; vote; sit on a jury; get a tattoo; or use tobacco products. [*State v. Null*, 836 N.W.2d 41, 53 (Iowa 2013)].

*Smith v. State*, No. 16–1711, 2017 WL 3283311, at \*2–3 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 2, 2017). It would be bizarre to declare that 18-year-olds are presumptively capable of serving as jurors in a murder trial, but are also too immature to recognize the depravity and illegality of murder.

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